STATE OF WISCONSIN IN SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED

10-20-2017

CLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

Appeal No. 2014AP2561 (Racine County Case 2005CF324)

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

DAVID MCALISTER, SR.,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

On Review of a Decision of the Court of Appeals,
District II, Affirming an Order of the Circuit
Court for Racine County, the Honorable Emily S. Mueller,
Circuit Judge, Presiding

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT-PETITIONER

Robert R. Henak State Bar No. 1016803

HENAK LAW OFFICE, S.C. 316 North Milwaukee Street, Suite 535 Milwaukee, Wisconsin 53202 (414) 283-9300

Counsel for Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW
The central issue at trial was whether McAlister
participated in the charged robberies. The state's evidence on
that point consisted entirely of the allegations of two confessed

participants seeking to mitigate the consequences of their own misconduct. The jury knew that the state's witnesses had a motive to falsely accuse McAlister but those witnesses denied under oath having done so.

Under these circumstances, are the allegations of

McAlister's Wis. Stat. §974.06 motion sufficient to require a new trial and therefore an evidentiary hearing on his claim of newly discovered evidence from three separate witnesses swearing that, prior to trial, the state witnesses admitted that they intended to falsely accuse McAlister?

This question necessarily includes the following subissues:

- a. Is the new evidence that, prior to trial, the state's witnesses admitted that McAlister was *not* involved in the robberies and that they nonetheless intended to frame him for them insufficient to support a newly discovered evidence claim on the grounds that it "merely tend[s] to impeach the credibility of witnesses?"
- b. Is that new evidence that McAlister was not involved in the robberies "cumulative" of evidence that the state witnesses had a motive to falsely accuse him?
- c. Are the pretrial admissions by the state's witnesses that McAlister was not involved in the robberies and that they nonetheless intended to frame him for them "recantations" requiring corroboration and, if so, are they adequately corroborated?
- d. Do the newly discovered pretrial admissions by the state's witnesses that McAlister in fact was not involved in the robberies create a reasonable probability of a different result?

The circuit court denied McAlister's *pro se* due process challenge based on newly discovered evidence, concluding without a hearing that the affidavits had "limited credibility," that the pretrial admissions were "recantations," and that those "recantations" were not adequately corroborated. On his *pro se*

appeal, the Court of Appeals affirmed on different grounds, concluding that the state witnesses' pretrial admissions to falsely accusing McAlister were "mere[] impeach[ment]" and "cumulative" to evidence that they had a motive to falsely accuse him.

The Court of Appeals summarily denied the reconsideration motion filed by *pro bono* counsel. Judge Hagedorn concurred, however, admitting that the court's original rationale was legally invalid. He nonetheless concluded that the circuit court had the discretion to find that the affidavits were incredible without a hearing and that they thus would not create a reasonable probability of a different result.

STATE OF WISCONSIN IN SUPREME COURT

Appeal No. 2014AP2561 (Racine County Case 2005CF324)

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

DAVID MCALISTER, SR.,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT-PETITIONER

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Three separate people have sworn that the state's two key witnesses against David McAlister admitted to them, prior to the trial, that they intended to falsely accuse McAlister of involvement in the crimes to reduce their own punishment. Wendell McPherson swore that, prior to the trial, Alphonso Waters spoke to him in prison about Waters' fear the state would realize that he was lying about McAlister's involvement to improve his own position in the justice system (R47). Corey Prince swore that, prior to the trial, Nathan Jefferson, told him at the Racine County Jail that Waters instructed him to lie about McAlister's involvement so they could get shorter sentences (R47:5). Antonio Shannon swore that, prior to the trial, Jefferson told him in a different conversation at the Racine County Jail that he had an "out" that would only work if he and Waters testified

against someone Jefferson "said was not involved in the robbery" (R48).

McAlister first learned of these three witnesses after his trial and after his direct appeal of his conviction on two counts of armed robbery and one count of possession of a firearm. Believing that he now had evidence of Waters and Jefferson falsely accusing him, rather than just a motive for them to do so, he moved for a new trial on the basis of newly-discovered evidence. (R46-R48). He appeals from the lower courts' refusal even to allow an evidentiary hearing on that motion.

A. The Trial

Having been caught for their own wrongdoing and accepting plea deals by the state (R72:17-18, 42-49), Waters and Jefferson provided the exclusive evidence at trial directly tying McAlister to three separate robberies (*see* R76:20-22; App. 16-18 (circuit court quoting state's closing argument)). Based on their testimony, a jury found McAlister guilty of two of those robberies and a related charge of felon in possession of a firearm but acquitted him of the third. (R28-R30; R73:102-03).¹

The fact of the robberies and the involvement of Jefferson and Waters in two of them is not disputed.

Two convictions concerned an attempted armed robbery of the Catholic Community Credit Union by Nathan Jefferson and a female accomplice on December 21, 2004 (R73:32, 38 (Counts 4 & 5)). The other concerned an armed robbery of Wisconsin Auto Title Loan by Jefferson, Waters, and the same female accomplice on December 28, 2004 (*id.*:40 (Count 6)). Jefferson and Waters claimed that they committed each of these

The state dismissed charges related to another alleged robbery at the beginning of trial and had dismissed another felon in possession charge earlier for lack of evidence (R59:2; R70:2-4)

robberies at the direction of McAlister and that McAlister provided the gun and drove the getaway car (*e.g.*, R71:39-51; R72:19-37).

Jefferson and Waters also claimed that McAlister admitted to them his involvement in the robbery of a Piggly-Wiggly store (*e.g.*, R71:53-56; R72:37-38, 44), but the jury acquitted McAlister of those charges (Counts 1-3) (R25-R27; R73:102-03).

The only real dispute at trial was whether, as Jefferson and Waters – and only Jefferson and Waters – claimed, McAlister was involved in the three robberies. As the prosecutor explained in his closing argument:

. . . And really what it all boils down to, more than anything else, is do you believe Anthony Waters (sic) and/or Nathan Jefferson or don't you?

... If you believe them, either/or, you'll find the defendant guilty; and quite frankly, if you don't believe what they told you, there is no way to find the defendant guilty.

There is not enough other evidence of his involvement to find him guilty of these crimes if you don't believe them when they say he was involved.

(R73:59-60; see id.:69; see also R70:95 (state's opening)).

The state's court of appeals brief adequately summarizes the trial evidence from which the jury might have discredited its witnesses:

In exchange for Waters' and Jefferson's testimony, the State agreed to "reduce the exposure for both of the witnesses, and once the exposure was reduced, make a recommendation as to what the ultimate sentence should be" (72:44-46).

Waters was the State's first witness. On cross-examination, defense counsel asked Waters about several incidents in which he had either lied to the police about his involvement in a particular crime or used a false name to escape detection, and Waters admitted that, in those instances, he had been willing to lie to keep himself out of jail (71:121-22, 127-31). Waters refused, however, to acknowledge the consideration he had received for his testimony (71:151-53; 72:46). The next day, the court read to the jurors a joint stipulation prepared by the parties, informing them that the State had agreed to reduce Waters' exposure and recommend less prison time, and that Waters knew about the agreement before he testified (42:3; 72:17-18).

When Jefferson testified, he acknowledged his plea agreement with the State (72:42, 45-49). Defense counsel cross-examined Jefferson extensively about his negotiations with the State (72:45-49). Jefferson also admitted that he had originally lied to investigating officers about his involvement in one of the robberies because he didn't want to go to jail (72:50-51). Only when he was convinced that the police had sufficient evidence to convict him of that robbery did Jefferson, hoping for leniency, tell them about his role in the robbery and implicate McAlister (72:52-54).

State v. McAlister, Appeal No. 2014AP2561, State's Court of Appeals Brief at 2-3.

As the trial prosecutor emphasized throughout his closing, however, there was no direct evidence that the state's witnesses had colluded to frame McAlister (R73:61-62, 65-67, 94), and the witnesses denied having done so (*e.g.*, R72:38-39).

The circuit court sentenced McAlister to 25 years initial confinement and nine years extended supervision on the three counts for which he was convicted (R36; R74:12-18).

B. Post-Conviction Proceedings

After an unsuccessful direct appeal (R42-R44), McAlister learned that, not only did Waters and Jefferson have a motive to falsely accuse him, but they in fact had admitted to others prior to trial that McAlister was *not* involved in the robberies and that

they were only accusing him to mitigate their own punishment. He therefore filed a *pro se* motion under Wis. Stat. §974.06 on the grounds that the newly discovered evidence of innocence gave him a due process right to a new trial. (R46-R48).

Again, the state's summary suffices here:

On May 19, 2014, McAlister filed another postconviction motion, this time seeking a new trial based on newly-discovered evidence "that the primary witnesses against [him] conspired to frame him to obtain favor from the State" (46:1). In support of his motion, McAlister submitted affidavits from three men who claimed that Waters and Jefferson had confessed to lying about McAlister's participation in the robberies (47; 48).

According to his affidavit, Wendell McPherson was in prison with Alphonso Waters before he testified at McAlister's trial (47:1-4). Waters allegedly told McPherson about the plea agreement he had with the State and that he was afraid the State would find out that he and Jefferson were lying about McAlister's involvement in the robberies (47:2). Confronted with a video recording showing him committing one of the robberies, Waters said he asked the police for a deal (47:2). Waters told McPherson that "he needed to come up with a lie so that he can throw somebody under the bus and that's when David McAlister entered his mind" (47:2). When McPherson asked why he was going to lie about McAlister's part in the robberies, Waters told him that "[h]e didn't like Mr. McAlister and he wanted to get Mr. McAlister out of the picture" (47:3). Waters also said he'd written to Jefferson and told him "exactly what to say because he had made a plea deal and he want they [sic] statements to collaborate so Mr. Jefferson can get a plea deal as well" (47:3). Finally, McPherson stated that he helped Waters prepare for McAlister's trial by helping Waters "rehearse[] the lies that he testified to so he would be believable" (47:3).

The second affidavit was from Corey Prince (47:5). Prince stated that he was in the Racine County

Jail with Nathan Jefferson in 2006 and 2007, before Jefferson testified at McAlister's trial (47:5). During that time, Prince claimed that Jefferson told him that Alphonso Waters, who was also known as "Bird," had instructed him on "exactly what to say in regards to their pending case" and to lie about "the older man" being involved "so that they could receive a shorter sentence" (47:5). Prince alleged that several years later, in 2012, he was in Waupun Correctional Institution with McAlister when he overheard McAlister complaining that "Nate" and "Bird" had set him up by lying and implicating him in robberies they had committed (47:5). At that point, Prince introduced himself to McAlister and told him about the conversation(s) he'd had with Jefferson back in 2006-07 (47:5).

The third affidavit came from Antonio Shannon, who stated that he and his friend, Amanda, had actually seen Jefferson commit one of the robberies at issue, which had taken place at an auto loan business (48:1). Two years later, Shannon happened to be in the Racine County Jail with an inmate who turned out to be Jefferson (48:1). They talked and learned that they both knew Amanda (48:1). When Jefferson later confessed to the auto loan robbery [fn. omitted], Shannon told Jefferson that he'd seen him running from the scene (48:1). Jefferson allegedly said that he had "an out[,]" but it would only work if "Bird" said the same thing (48:1). The next day, Jefferson told Shannon that he had a plea deal "if he took the stand against someone he said was not involved in the robbery" (48:2).

State v. McAlister, Appeal No. 2014AP2561, State's Court of Appeals Brief at 4-5.

After argument in which McAlister appeared without counsel and explained his position that (1) the pretrial admissions recounted in the affidavits were not "recantations" and (2) that each of the three affidavits corroborated the others without need to reference the alternative corroboration method from *State v. McCallum*, 208 Wis.2d 463, 476, 561 N.W.2d 707 (1997) (R76:17-18, 27), the circuit court denied McAlister's

motion without an evidentiary hearing. (R76:28-30; App. 19-21).

Viewing the newly discovered pre-trial admissions as "recantations," the court found that McAlister did not show either a newly discovered motive for the witnesses' trial perjury or that those admissions bore circumstantial guaranties of trustworthiness under the alternative corroboration method in McCallum, supra. The court also deemed one of the three affidavits as "inherently not believable" because the affiant admitted having helped a state witness concoct his testimony. Despite having previously cited the importance of the state witnesses' testimony and of the absence at trial of any evidence of collusion between them (R76:20-22; App. 16-18), the court concluded that there was no reasonable probability of a different result (R76:28-30; App. 19-21). The court neither acknowledged nor addressed McAlister's argument that the three separate newly discovered admissions to framing him corroborated each other.

The court's written decision and order (drafted by the prosecutor (R76:30; App. 21)) stated not that any of the new witnesses' sworn affidavits was incredible, but that they "have limited credibility." It then repeated the finding that the state witnesses' motives for lying were not newly discovered and that there was no circumstantial guarantee of trustworthiness for the recantations (R52; App. 8).

The Court of Appeals rejected McAlister's *pro se* appeal (App. 1-5), although holding simply that the new evidence was "cumulative" and mere impeachment evidence insufficient as a matter of law (App. 5). Specifically, that court concluded that

the three affidavits McAlister submitted in support of his postconviction motion were merely an attempt to retry the credibility of Waters and Jefferson, whose credibility was well-aired at trial. Evidence does not warrant a new trial when, as here, it would merely tend to impeach the credibility of witnesses. *State v. Machner*, 92 Wis.2d 797, 806, 285 N.W.2d 905 (Ct. App. 1979). Because the three affidavits were cumulative, they did not satisfy the requirements for newly discovered evidence. [Citation omitted]. Therefore, McAlister did not allege sufficient material facts that, if true, would entitle him to the relief sought, i.e., a new trial. [Citation omitted].

(App. 5).

On March 3, 2017, the Court of Appeals summarily denied *pro bono* counsel's timely motion for reconsideration raising the same defects in that court's analysis raised here (App. 6-7). While Judge Hagedorn, concurring, admitted that the court had applied the wrong legal standards, he nonetheless concluded that the circuit court could have legitimately found the new witnesses to be incredible without a hearing and therefore could conclude that the new evidence would not create a reasonable probability of a different result (App. 7).

This Court granted review on September 11, 2017.

ARGUMENT

BECAUSE HIS FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS, IF TRUE, ENTITLE HIM TO A NEW TRIAL, MCALISTER IS ENTITLED TO AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING ON HIS NEWLY DISCOVERED EVIDENCE MOTION²

"Our judicial history is speckled with cases where informants falsely pointed the finger of guilt at suspects and defendants, creating the risk of sending innocent persons to

Because McAlister and his attorneys were unaware of the newly discovered evidence at the time of trial and his direct appeal, his motion satisfies the "sufficient reason" requirement of Wis. Stat. §974.06(4). *See State v. Escalona-Naranjo*, 185 Wis.2d 168, 182 n.11, 517 N.W.2d 157 (1994); *State v. Edmunds*, 2008 WI App 33, ¶11, 308 Wis.2d 374, 746 N.W.2d 590.

prison." *United States v. Bernal-Obeso*, 989 F.2d 331, 334 (9th Cir. 1993); *see*, *e.g.*, *On Lee v. United States*, 343 U.S. 747, 757 (1952) (use of such informers "may raise serious questions of credibility"). Rarely do such witnesses admit that they are framing an innocent person, and when they do, we should not blithely dismiss such admissions.

Here, McAlister satisfied the requirements for a hearing on his newly-discovered evidence claim, having presented newly discovered evidence that he was not simply unfairly convicted, but that he is factually innocent of the charges against him. The lower courts nonetheless denied him that hearing based on a variety of findings that reflect much confusion regarding the applicable legal standards.

A. The Applicable Legal Standards

1. The general standards for newly discovered evidence

The general standards for a newly discovered evidence claim are well-settled if not always well-understood:

To obtain a new trial based on newly discovered evidence, a defendant must establish by clear and convincing evidence that "(1) the evidence was discovered after conviction; (2) the defendant was not negligent in seeking evidence; (3) the evidence is material to an issue in the case; and (4) the evidence is not merely cumulative." [State v. Armstrong, 2005 WI 119, ¶161, 283 Wis.2d 639, 700 N.W.2d 98] (citation omitted). Once those four criteria have been established, the court looks to "whether a reasonable probability exists that a different result would be reached in a trial." *Id.* (citation omitted). The reasonable probability factor need not be established by clear and convincing evidence, as it contains its own burden of proof. Id., ¶¶160-62 (abrogating *State v. Avery*, 213 Wis.2d 228, 234-37, 570 N.W.2d 573 (Ct. App. 1997)).

State v. Edmunds, 2008 WI App 33, ¶13, 308 Wis.2d 374, 746 N.W.2d 590.

"A reasonable probability of a different result exists if 'there is a reasonable probability that a jury, looking at both the [old evidence] and the [new evidence], would have a reasonable doubt as to the defendant's guilt." *State v. Love*, 2005 WI 116, ¶44, 284 Wis.2d 111, 700 N.W.2d 62 (citation omitted). The defendant, moreover, need not prove that acquittal is more likely than not or that the evidence is legally insufficient but for the identified errors. *Kyles v. Whitley*, 514 U.S. 419, 434-35 (1995). Rather, he need only show a reasonable probability of a different result. *Love*, *supra*.

If the new evidence is in the form of a "recantation," the recantation must be corroborated by other newly discovered evidence. *McCallum*, 208 Wis.2d at 476. *See* Section B,3,a, *infra*.

Newly discovered evidence is a matter of due process. *E.g., Love,* 2005 WI 116, ¶43, n.18.

2. The general standards for assessing the adequacy of a motion to require a hearing

"If the motion raises sufficient facts that, if true, show that the defendant is entitled to relief, the circuit court must hold an evidentiary hearing" unless "the record conclusively demonstrates that the defendant is not entitled to relief." *State v. Balliette*, 2011 WI 79, ¶18, 336 Wis.2d 358, 805 N.W.2d 334 (citation and internal quotation omitted). Also, while McAlister submitted his new evidence in the form of sworn affidavits, he was not required to do so; making the allegations in the motion itself would have been sufficient. *E.g., State v. Brown*, 2006 WI 100, ¶62, 293 Wis.2d 594, 716 N.W.2d 906. In assessing the sufficiency of a motion, its factual allegations must be accepted as true. *Balliette*, 2011 WI 79, ¶12.

3. The applicable standards of review

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