RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN 12-11-2017

IN SUPREME COUR COUR COURT

Case No. 2014AP2561

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

DAVID MCALISTER, SR.,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

ON REVIEW OF A DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS, DISTRICT II, AFFIRMING AN ORDER DENYING A MOTION FOR POSTCONVICTION RELIEF ENTERED IN THE RACINE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE EMILY S. MUELLER, PRESIDING

BRIEF AND SUPPLEMENTAL APPENDIX OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Wisconsin Attorney General

SCOTT E. ROSENOW Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1083736

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

IV. While this case does not implicate the issue, this Court should reject McAlister's request that it abandon the rule that a new trial is not justified based on newly discovered evidence that merely tends to impeach the credibility of a witness. McAlister contends that this rule conflicts with case law holding that new impeachment evidence can require a new trial. There is no conflict in the case law. New impeachment evidence will *rarely* justify granting a new trial. When it does, it is not *mere* impeachment evidence. Other courts have recognized this distinction.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

"The decision to grant or deny a motion for a new trial based on newly discovered evidence is committed to the circuit court's discretion." *State v. Avery*, 2013 WI 13, ¶ 22, 345 Wis. 2d 407, 826 N.W.2d 60 (citation omitted). An appellate court will affirm the decision "if it has a reasonable basis and was made in accordance with accepted legal standards and facts of record." *State v. Carnemolla*, 229 Wis. 2d 648, 656, 600 N.W.2d 236 (Ct. App. 1999) (citation omitted).

ARGUMENT

I. McAlister's actual innocence claim is not cognizable under Wis. Stat. § 974.06.

A defendant may collaterally attack a conviction under Wis. Stat. § 974.06(1) by arguing "that the sentence was imposed in violation of the U.S. constitution or the constitution or laws of this state, that the court was without jurisdiction to impose such sentence, or that the sentence was in excess of the maximum authorized by law or is otherwise subject to collateral attack." *Id.* "[A] defendant may raise only constitutional or jurisdictional issues in a Wis. Stat. § 974.06 motion." *State v. Balliette*, 2011 WI 79, ¶ 34 n.4, 336 Wis. 2d 358, 805 N.W.2d 334 (citation omitted). Claims of newly discovered evidence like McAlister's—claims that new evidence suggests that the defendant is innocent—are neither jurisdictional nor constitutional claims. This Court should thus hold that McAlister's claim is not cognizable under section 974.06.²

Claims of actual innocence based on newly discovered evidence do not fall into any of the permissible categories under Wis. Stat. § 974.06. Such a claim does not allege that a circuit court "was without jurisdiction to impose [a] sentence,

² The State may raise this cognizability argument even though it was not raised in the petition for review or the response. An issue in a petition for review includes "every subsidiary issue." Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.62(2)(a). The second issue in McAlister's petition was "[w]hether the allegations of McAlister's §974.06 motion were sufficient to require a new trial and therefore an evidentiary hearing on his claim." (McAlister Pet. 2.) The cognizability of his claim under that statute is a subsidiary issue of the second issue presented. Further, "the issues before the court are the issues presented in the petition for review and not discrete arguments that may be made, pro or con, in the disposition of an issue either by counsel or by the court." State v. Weber, 164 Wis. 2d 788, 789, 476 N.W.2d 867 (1991) (footnote omitted). "Once an issue is raised in a petition for review, any argument addressing the issue may be asserted in the brief of either party or utilized by this court." Id. at 791. Thus, the State may raise its cognizability argument in response to McAlister's second issue presented. In any event, this Court may exercise its discretion to review an issue not raised in the petition or response. See, e.g., State v. Denny, 2017 WI 17, ¶ 63 n.15, 373 Wis. 2d 390, 891 N.W.2d 144.

or that the sentence was in excess of the maximum authorized by law." See Wis. Stat. § 974.06(1). McAlister does not argue otherwise.³

The issue here is thus whether newly discovered evidence claims are constitutional claims. This Court should hold, consistent with the United States Supreme Court's case law, that they are not.

A claim of actual innocence based on newly discovered evidence is not a due process claim, as this Court and the court of appeals have recognized. See State v. Plude, 2008 WI 58, ¶ 38, 310 Wis. 2d 28, 750 N.W.2d 42; State v. Brunton, 203 Wis. 2d 195, 202 n.5, 552 N.W.2d 452 (Ct. App. 1996). A defendant has a due process right to a criminal "fundamentally fair" trial. State v. Marinez, 2010 WI App 34, ¶ 21, 324 Wis. 2d 282, 781 N.W.2d 511 (citation omitted). A claim of actual innocence based on newly discovered evidence does not allege that a trial was fundamentally unfair. Such a claim alleges only that the trial "reached the wrong result," "not that the trial judge committed reversible error." *Guinan* v. United States, 6 F.3d 468, 470 (7th Cir. 1993), abrogated on other grounds by Massaro v. United States, 538 U.S. 500 (2003); see also Brunton, 203 Wis. 2d at 206 ("A motion for a new trial based on newly-discovered evidence does not claim that there were errors in the conduct of the trial or deficiency

³ Newly discovered evidence claims also do not render a sentence "otherwise subject to collateral attack." See Wis. Stat. § 974.06(1). McAlister does not argue otherwise. This Court, possibly relying on that statutory language, has sometimes stated that "sec. 974.06 is applicable only to jurisdictional or constitutional matters or to errors that go directly to the issue of the defendant's guilt." Cresci v. State, 89 Wis. 2d 495, 505, 278 N.W.2d 850 (1979) (footnote omitted) (emphasis added) (citing Smith v. State, 85 Wis. 2d 650, 661, 271 N.W.2d 20 (1978)). That italicized language does not help McAlister because, as explained next, a newly discovered evidence claim does not allege that an error led to a conviction.

in trial counsel's performance."). This kind of claim is thus not a constitutional due process claim.

Consistent with the above-described principles, the United States Supreme Court has held that newly discovered evidence claims are not constitutional in nature. Herrera v. Collins, 506 U.S. 390, 400–01 (1993). Such claims seek to "correct errors of fact" and do not argue that defendants are "imprisoned in violation of the Constitution." Id. at 400 (citations omitted); see also id. at 404 (noting that "a claim of 'actual innocence' is not itself a constitutional claim"). The Herrera Court further held that Texas law did not violate due process by allowing a defendant to raise a newly discovered evidence claim only within 60 days after a judgment of conviction is filed. Herrera, 506 U.S. at 410-11. The Court relied on the historical unavailability of motions for new trials based on newly discovered evidence long after conviction, diverging practices among the states, the possibility of executive clemency, and the lack of any mention of new trials in the Constitution. Id. at 407–17. So, under Herrera, "[a]n argument of actual innocence, based on newly discovered evidence, does not implicate the Constitution[.]" Ruth v. United States, 266 F.3d 658, 661 (7th Cir. 2001) (citing Herrera, 506. U.S. at 400–01); see also, e.g., United States v. Evans, 224 F.3d 670, 674 (7th Cir. 2000) (citing Guinan, 6 F.3d at 470–71) ("We know from [Herrera] that a conviction does not violate the Constitution (or become otherwise subject to collateral attack) just because newly discovered evidence implies that the defendant is innocent.").

That actual innocence claims are not cognizable under Wis. Stat. § 974.06 also flows from case law interpreting a federal habeas statute, 28 U.S.C. § 2255. Section 974.06 has "language 'taken directly from 28 U.S.C. § 2255." *State v. Lo*, 2003 WI 107, ¶ 21, 264 Wis. 2d 1, 665 N.W.2d 756. Indeed, § 2255(a) and section 974.06(1) are almost verbatim. With the exception of a procedural bar in section 974.06(4), that state statute "is a direct adaptation of 28 U.S.C. sec. 2255." *State v. Escalona-Naranjo*, 185 Wis. 2d 168, 176, 517 N.W.2d 157 (1994). Wisconsin courts thus look to federal cases on § 2255 for guidance when interpreting section 974.06. *See, e.g.*, *Beamon v. State*, 93 Wis. 2d 215, 221, 286 N.W.2d 592 (1980); *State v. Mentzel*, 218 Wis. 2d 734, 743–44, 581 N.W.2d 581 (Ct. App. 1998). Federal courts have held that "[a] *bona fide* motion for a new trial on the basis of newly discovered evidence falls outside [§ 2255(a)] because it does not contend that the conviction or sentence violates the Constitution or any statute." *Evans*, 224 F.3d at 673–74. The same is true of section 974.06.

Consistent with the above-described authorities, this Court in *Vara v. State*, 56 Wis. 2d 390, 392, 202 N.W.2d 10 (1972), held that a defendant's newly discovered evidence claim was *not* cognizable under Wis. Stat. § 974.06.

Both the court of appeals, see State v. Bembenek, 140 Wis. 2d 248, 252, 409 N.W.2d 432 (Ct. App. 1987), and this Court in a footnote, see State v. Love, 2005 WI 116, ¶ 43 n.18, 284 Wis. 2d 111, 700 N.W.2d 62, have since implicitly overruled Vara and held that actual innocence claims could be brought under Wis. Stat. § 974.06. As this Court explained, in its view, "[i]t would be illogical to close the court's doors to a defendant who has newly discovered evidence, evidence that by definition creates a reasonable probability that a different verdict would be reached at a new trial." Love, 284 Wis. 2d 111, \P 43 n.18. Due process "ensure[d] that a defendant at least have access to the courts and an opportunity to be heard where newly discovered evidence creates a reasonable probability that a different result would be reached at a new trial, as long as the newly discovered evidence meets [other requirements]." Id.

This Court should overrule the holding in *Love* and *Bembenek* that a newly discovered evidence claim is a matter of due process and cognizable under Wis. Stat. § 974.06. Although stare decisis is the preferred course of action, "[t]his court is more likely to overturn a prior decision" if it is "unsound in principle" or "detrimental to coherence and consistency in the law." *State v. Luedtke*, 2015 WI 42, ¶ 40, 362 Wis. 2d 1, 863 N.W.2d 592 (citation omitted). These standards are satisfied here for three reasons.

First, the due process holding in *Love* and *Bembenek* is wrong on the merits for the reasons described above. An innocence claim based on newly discovered evidence alleges only that a jury reached the wrong result. It does not allege that an error caused a trial to be fundamentally unfair in violation of due process.

Second, Love and Bembenek conflict with the Supreme Court's holding on a similar question in *Herrera*. The *Love* court mischaracterized *Herrera* as simply holding "that a death-row defendant's claim of actual innocence based on newly discovered evidence by itself does not state a basis for federal habeas corpus relief." *Love*, 284 Wis. 2d 111, ¶ 43 n.18. But *Herrera*'s holding was not just about habeas corpus. It was also about the Constitution. A newly discovered evidence claim is not cognizable in habeas corpus precisely because it is not a constitutional claim. Herrera, 506 U.S. at 400–01. It is cognizable in habeas corpus only if there was an "independent constitutional violation occurring in the underlying state criminal proceeding." Id. at 400. In further conflict with *Herrera*, the *Bembenek* and *Love* courts thought that due process required allowing a defendant to raise a newly discovered evidence claim at any time. The Supreme Court squarely rejected that proposition in *Herrera*. Id. at 410-11.

Love did not rely on the Wisconsin Constitution to justify its departure from Herrera—and for good reason. "This court has repeatedly stated that the due process clauses of the state and federal constitutions are essentially equivalent and are subject to identical interpretation." State v. Harris, 2004 WI 64, ¶ 2 n.1, 272 Wis. 2d 80, 680 N.W.2d 737 (citation omitted).

Third, the *Love* court was wrong to worry that a "court's doors" would be closed to a defendant with newly discovered evidence if it overruled the due process holding in *Bembenek*. See Love, 284 Wis. 2d 111, ¶ 43 n.18. Such a defendant could file a postconviction motion "within 60 days after the later of the service of the transcript or circuit court case record." Wis. Stat. § 809.30(2)(h); see also Brunton, 203 Wis. 2d at 200 (noting the parties' agreement "that a criminal defendant may bring a motion under Rule 809.30(2)(h), Stats., for a new trial on newly-discovered evidence"). Otherwise based the defendant could raise a newly discovered evidence claim "at any time within one year after verdict." Wis. Stat. § 805.16(4); see also id. §§ 805.15(3), 806.07(1)(b).⁴ And a defendant could seek relief under section 974.06 if he had newly discovered evidence of a constitutional violation. For example, a defendant might discover after trial that the prosecution knowingly withheld exculpatory evidence in violation of Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83 (1963). See Plude, 310 Wis. 2d 28, ¶ 38 n.13 (noting that new evidence of a *Brady* violation is a constitutional claim); see also United States v. O'Malley, 833 F.3d 810, 813-16 (7th Cir. 2016) (same). A defendant could

⁴ A circuit court may not grant relief to a criminal defendant in the interest of justice under Wis. Stat. § 805.15(1) or under the "catchall provisions in § 806.07(1)(g) and (h)." *State v. Henley*, 2010 WI 97, ¶¶ 66, 71, 328 Wis. 2d 544, 787 N.W.2d 350. But section 805.15(3), which allows a new trial based on newly discovered evidence, applies in criminal cases. *See State v. Brunton*, 203 Wis. 2d 195, 200 & n.3, 552 N.W.2d 452 (Ct. App. 1996).

also seek relief under a statute that applies to newly discovered DNA evidence. See Wis. Stat. § 974.07(10); State v. Denny, 2017 WI 17, ¶¶ 55–56, 373 Wis. 2d 390, 891 N.W.2d 144.

If all else fails, a defendant could seek relief in the interest of justice despite any limitations in section 974.06. See State v. Armstrong, 2005 WI 119, ¶¶ 110–14, 283 Wis. 2d 639, 700 N.W.2d 98. This Court and the court of appeals may reverse for a new trial in the interest of justice if the real controversy was not fully tried or if justice has probably miscarried. Avery, 345 Wis. 2d 407, ¶ 38 & nn.17–18. Newly discovered evidence may require a new trial in the interest of justice. State v. Maloney, 2006 WI 15, ¶¶ 14 n.4, 40 & nn.16–17, 288 Wis. 2d 551, 709 N.W.2d 436. However, "[r]eversals in the interest of justice should be granted only in exceptional cases." State v. McKellips, 2016 WI 51, ¶ 30, 369 Wis. 2d 437, 881 N.W.2d 258 (citation omitted).

In short, a newly discovered evidence claim is not cognizable under section 974.06.

This Court should decline to consider the merits of McAlister's claim. That claim is not cognizable under section 974.06 because it does not allege a constitutional or jurisdictional error. It instead alleges only that new evidence suggests that McAlister is innocent. Courts generally do not reach the merits of non-cognizable claims brought under Wis. Stat. § 974.06. See, e.g., State v. Schlise, 86 Wis. 2d 26, 29, 271 N.W.2d 619 (1978); Sass v. State, 63 Wis. 2d 92, 96–97, 216 N.W.2d 22 (1974); State v. Langston, 53 Wis. 2d 228, 232, 191 N.W.2d 713 (1971). Further, this Court should apply its new cognizability holding to McAlister. "Changes in the law of collateral attack constitutionally may be applied to persons who were convicted while greater opportunities for collateral review existed." Liegakos v. Cooke, 106 F.3d 1381, 1384 (7th 1997) (citations omitted) (upholding retroactive Cir.

application of a new procedural bar under Wis. Stat. § 974.06); see also State v. Braun, 185 Wis. 2d 152, 166, 516 N.W.2d 740 (1994) (retroactively applying a new procedural bar under section 974.06 to Braun); but see State v. Smith, 55 Wis. 2d 304, 308, 198 N.W.2d 630 (1972) (declining to retroactively apply case law limiting the types of claims that may be brought under section 974.06).

Although this Court may *sua sponte* consider whether to reverse in the interest of justice, *Maloney*, 288 Wis. 2d 551, ¶ 16, it should decline to consider that issue here. If this Court wants to consider that issue, however, it may order supplemental briefing. *See id.* ¶ 20.

II. McAlister's new evidence does not create a reasonable probability of a different result.

A. This Court should clarify that the "reasonable probability" requirement has a deferential standard of review.

A defendant must satisfy five requirements to obtain a new trial based on newly discovered evidence. To meet the first four requirements, a defendant must show by clear and convincing evidence that "(1) the evidence was discovered after conviction; (2) the defendant was not negligent in seeking the evidence; (3) the evidence is material to an issue in the case; and (4) the evidence is not merely cumulative." *Avery*, 345 Wis. 2d 407, ¶ 25 (citation omitted).

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